ORIGINAL

THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA

In the Court of Appeals

RECEIVED

APR 20 2016

APPEAL FROM KERSHAW COUNTY SC Court of Appeals

DEANDREA G. BENJAMIN, Circuit Court Judge

Case no. 2014-002652

The State of South Carolina..... Respondent

v.

Willie Thomas Starnes.....Appellant

FINAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

Erick M. Barbare  
120 Halton Rd. Ste. 3  
Greenville, SC 29607  
864-232-2700

Robert M. Dudek  
Chief Appellate Defender  
South Carolina Commission on Indigent Defense  
Division of Appellate Defense  
PO Box 11589  
Columbia, S. C. 29211-1589  
(803) 734-1330

ATTORNEYS FOR APPELLANT

STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL

1. Did the trial court err in admitting hearsay statements of the victim pursuant to the excited utterance exception to the hearsay rule?
2. Did the trial court err in admitting hearsay statements of the victim pursuant to the dying declaration exception to the hearsay rule?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Willie T. Starnes, the Appellant (“Starnes”), was indicted for murder in violation of S.C. Code Ann. § 16-3-10 and armed robbery in violation of S.C. Code Ann. § 16-11-330 (a) for an incident that occurred on August 24, 2013 in Kershaw County.

The case was tried from August 25, 2014 through August 28, 2014 before a jury. Following deliberations, the jury returned guilty verdicts on both indictments.

This appeal follows.

## STATEMENT OF FACTS

At trial, the State offered several witnesses. The first two witnesses called were relatives of the alleged victim, Alan Robinson ("Robinson.") Both of these witnesses testified to statements purportedly made by the victim to them after the incident that led to the charges against Starnes.

First, William L. Pate testified that he and his wife were leaving their home at about 5:30 PM to attend an auction. As they did so, they noticed something lying on the side of the road, and as they approached, they discovered it was Mr. Pate's uncle, Robinson. (R. p. 31 lines 5-15).

Mr. Pate further testified that as he approached Robinson, Robinson was excited and agitated. (R. p. 34 lines 20-21). Further, he testified that he was excited and agitated because of something that recently happened, stating that "[w]hat he [Robinson] told me was, he said, They hit my Moped. Somebody got out and knocked me off my Moped, hit me in the face. But why did they have to go down and turn around and come back and run over me?" (R. p. 37 lines 14-19).

Mr. Pate goes on to testify that Robinson identified the vehicle that hit him and that it looked like a blue Suburban, like "Scott's van." Scott was identified by Mr. Pate as Mr. Pate's neighbor, who drives a Tahoe. (R. p. 39 lines 18-25).

The solicitor and Mr. Pate go on to have the following exchange:

"Q Okay. During that 25 minutes while you were waiting on the ambulance -- you testified earlier that he had been crying and he had been calling out for help -- did he continue to do that?

A Yes, sir.

Q Did he continue to seem to be, you know, in an upset and agitated state?

A Yes, sir.

Q While waiting on EMS? All right. So he never really calmed down while you were waiting on EMS?

A. **The only time I could say he calmed down at all was when he asked me why they turned around and run over him.** (emphasis added).” (R. p. 49 lines 14-25).

Despite timely objection from defense counsel (R. p. 50 lines 9-11), these statements made by Robinson to Mr. Pate were admitted as evidence by the Court.

The next witness to testify was Martha Pate, William Pate’s wife. (R. p.57). She testified that she and her husband left their home at about 5:15 p.m. to attend an auction, and as they were driving, discovered Robinson lying in the road. (R. p. 57 lines 18-23). As Ms. Pate and her husband approached Robinson, she testified that Robinson said, “I’m in pain! Help me!” (R. p. 58 lines 8). The Pates questioned Robinson about what happened, and Robinson told them that he had been hit by a van and that they took his moped. (R. p. 61 lines 23-24). Ms. Pate testified further that the van that hit him was the color of Scott’s, a neighbor of hers that drives a blue SUV. (R. p. 62 lines. 2-4). She went on to testify Robinson told her that “[t]hey went down to Camp Road and he said [t]hey turned around and was coming back up Freeman Road towards him. And when they got close to him, they sped up and hit him with the vehicle.” (R. p. 62 lines15-19).

Despite timely objection from defense counsel (R. p. 61 lines 9-10), these statements made by Robinson to Ms. Pate were admitted as evidence by the Court.

## ARGUMENT

1. **The trial court should not have admitted the hearsay statements made by Mr. Pate pursuant to the excited utterance exception.**

The trial court should have sustained defense counsel's objection to the hearsay statements made by Mr. Pate as these statements do not fall within the excited utterance exception to the hearsay rule and should not have admitted those statements into evidence. This Court should reverse that ruling and remand this matter for a new trial.

"Hearsay is not admissible except as provided by these rules or by other rules prescribed by the Supreme Court of this State or by statute." Rule 802, SCRE.

"Hearsay" is a statement, other than one made by the declarant while testifying at the trial or hearing, offered in evidence to prove the truth of the matter asserted." Rule 801, SCRE.

It was not disputed at trial that the statements made by Mr. Pate and Ms. Pate concerning what Robinson told them happened to him were hearsay statements. Rather, the solicitor argued, and the trial court agreed, that these statements fell within the excited utterance exception to the hearsay rule.

The excited utterance exception is found in Rule 803 (2), SCRE: "The following are not excluded by the hearsay rule, even though the declarant is available as a witness: ... (2) Excited Utterance. A statement relating to a startling event or condition made while the declarant was under the stress of excitement caused by the event or condition."

"There are three elements that must be met to find a statement to be an excited utterance: (1) the statement must relate to a startling event or condition; (2) the statement must have been made while the declarant was under the stress of excitement; and (3) the

stress of excitement must be caused by the startling event or condition. *State v. Sims*, 348 S.C. 16, 21, 558 S.E.2d 518, 521 (2002). The excited utterance exception is based on the rationale that ‘the startling event suspends the declarant's process of reflective thought, reducing the likelihood of fabrication.’ *State v. Dennis*, 337 S.C. at 284, 523 S.E.2d at 177. A court must consider the totality of the circumstances when determining whether a statement falls within the excited utterance exception, and that determination is left to the sound discretion of the trial court. *Sims, supra.*” *State v. Ladner*, 373 S.C. 103, 116, 644 S.E.2d 684, 691, (2007).

In order for statements to be admitted as an excited utterance, the proponent of the statement must lay the proper foundation that the declarant was under the stress of excitement caused by the event or condition. *See State v. Davis*, 371 S.C. 170, 180, 638 S.E.2d 57, 63, (S.C. 2006) citing 31A C.J.S. Evidence § 359 (1996) (“the burden of establishing the facts which qualify a statement as an excited utterance rests with the proponent of the evidence.”)

In the instant case, the trial court should not have admitted Mr. Pate’s statement that Robinson told him that the defendant had turned his vehicle around and came back and ran over him. Mr. Pate testified that Robinson was *not* under the stress of excitement at the time he made that particular statement. In fact, Mr. Pate testified that he had calmed down at the time he made that statement: “The only time I could say he calmed down at all was when he asked me why they turned around and run over him.” (R. p. 49 lines 14-25). Because Robinson was not under the stress of excitement at the time he made that statement to Mr. Pate, it does not fall within the excited utterance exception, and this statement should not have been admitted into evidence.

It is important to note that the trial court did not admit the statements made by Robinson to Mr. Pate as a dying declaration, and only as an excited utterance. (R. p. 36 lines 5-7).

2. **The trial court should not have admitted the hearsay statements made by Ms. Pate pursuant to the dying declaration exception or the excited utterance exception.**

The trial court should have sustained defense counsel's objection to the hearsay statements made by Ms. Pate as these statements do not fall within the dying declaration exception to the hearsay rule or the excited utterance exception to the hearsay rule and should not have admitted those statements into evidence. This Court should reverse that ruling and remand this matter for a new trial.

As to the dying declaration exception, the Court should not have admitted Ms. Pate's statements as to what Mr. Robinson told her as a dying declaration because there was no evidence that Robinson believed he his death was imminent. Our Rules of Evidence specifically require that the declarant believe that his death is imminent in order for a statement to fall under the dying declaration exception: " In a prosecution for homicide or in a civil action or proceeding, a statement made by a declarant while believing that the declarant's death was imminent, concerning the cause or circumstances of what the declarant believed to be impending death." Rule 804 (2), SCRE.

It is undisputed that the case at bar is one for the prosecution for a homicide, as one of the two charges Starnes faced was for murder. The defendant also concedes that the third prong of SCRE 804 (2) is satisfied inasmuch as Ms. Pate's testimony as to what

Robinson told her concerned what Robinson alleged to be the cause and the circumstances surrounding his later death.

However, there is no testimony from Ms. Pate that Robinson believed that his death was imminent, or even that he thought he was dying. Her testimony was that Robinson was hurt, but there is no mention that he thought he would die, and would die imminently. Accordingly, a proper foundation for Robinson's statements to Ms. Pate was not laid, and the statements should not have been admitted as a dying declaration.

The case of *State v. McHoney*, 344 S.C. 85, 90, 544 S.E.2d 30, 32, (2001) is illustrative of when a proper foundation of a dying declaration has been made. In *McHoney*, the victim had her throat cut and was not able to speak. *Id* at 90. However, she was conscious and able to communicate with medical staff by nodding. *Id*. A nurse recited the alphabet and asked the victim to nod her head when she reached the attacker's initials, and in this way the victim's attacker was identified. *Id*.

Additionally, the nurse told the victim she was going to a hospital where she would get the best care and assured the victim she would be fine. In response to the nurse's statement, **“the victim looked at her, shook her head no, and closed her eyes.** The victim lost consciousness before the flight, and she died two weeks later without regaining consciousness.” (emphasis added) *Id*.

The *McHoney* victim clearly demonstrated that she did not believe she would be fine, and from that testimony the court could infer that she believed her death was imminent. In the instant case, there is no such testimony from Ms. Pate. Certainly, she testified that Robinson was hurt and in pain. He was crying out for help. But there is no

testimony that he thought his death was imminent. Accordingly, the statement should not have been admitted as a dying declaration.