ORIGINAL

**STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In the Court of Appeals**

Appeal from Kershaw County
Deandra G. Benjamin, Circuit Court Judge

THE STATE,

Respondent,

v.

WILLIE THOMAS STARNES,

Appellant.

Appellate Case No. 2014-002652

FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

ALAN WILSON
Attorney General

JOHN W. McINTOSH
Chief Deputy Attorney General

DONALD J. ZELENKA
Senior Assistant Deputy Attorney General

SHERRIE BUTTERBAUGH
Assistant Attorney General
S.C. Bar No. 101477
P.O. Box 11549
Columbia, South Carolina 29211
(803) 734-6305

DANIEL E. JOHNSON
Solicitor, Fifth Judicial Circuit
P.O. Box 192
Columbia, South Carolina 29201
(803) 576-1800

ATTORNEYS FOR RESPONDENT

RECEIVED
APR 18 2016

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

Relevant Facts:

As referenced above in the Statement of Facts, the charges stemmed from the death of Alan Robinson on August 24, 2013. The State maintained appellant bumped Robinson's moped, knocked him off, stole the moped, and then ran Robinson over, causing severe and traumatic injuries, including a crushed pelvis, multiple broken bones, and injuries to major organs and arteries. (R.p.155; p.161; pp.166-168; pp.171-72; pp.184-85). The State presented evidence, testimony, and appellant's confessions to connect him to the deadly incident.

William Pate, the victim's nephew, testified to finding Robinson lying on the side of the road, upset and agitated. (R.p.30, line 25-p.31, line 15). The State asked:

THE STATE: When you found [Robinson] laying there, what sort of condition was he in as far as, you know, how he appeared to you? Did he appear to be excited and, you know, in a state of agitation? Or tell me how he appeared in that sense. Not what he said, but just what he was doing. Was he screaming anything out?

PATE: He was hollering, I'm hurting! God, help me!

(R.p.34, lines 2-9). Defense counsel objected to Pate's testimony as hearsay. (R.p.34, lines 10-11). The trial court sustained the objection and ordered the State to rephrase the question.

(R.p.34, lines 16-18). The State then established Robinson's apparent state of mind:

THE STATE: Did he appear to be excited and agitated?

PATE: Yes, sir.

THE STATE: All right. Did he tell you why he was excited and agitated?

PATE: He was crying.

THE STATE: Did he tell you, yes or no, did he tell you why he was agitated?

PATE: Yes, sir.

THE STATE: Okay. All right. Was he alone or was his moped there with him?

PATE: No, his moped wasn't there.

THE STATE: Okay. All right.

(R.p.34, line 20-p.35, line 6). The State told the court: "I think I've established that [Robinson] was in an agitated state, that his moped wasn't there, and that he was injured. I would offer it under the excited utterance. And I have established that, you know, he was saying, Oh, God! Dying declaration." (R.p.35, lines 7-12). Defense counsel argued the State failed to establish the statements qualified under the dying declaration exception to the hearsay rule, and renewed his objection to the admission of the statements under the excited utterance exception, asserting the State failed to establish Robinson was upset, excited, or in an agitated state. (R.p.35, lines 14-20). The court allowed the statements in under the excited utterance exception, but sustained defense counsel's objection as to the dying declaration exception. (R.p.36, lines 1-8).

As referenced in further detail above in the Statement of Facts, Pate continued to testify that his uncle was moaning and crying, screaming in pain, and saying "God help me." (R.pp.36-37). Robinson told Pate someone hit his moped, knocked him off, hit him in the face, and stole his moped. (R.p.36; p.38). Pate further testified that Robinson told him the person got back in the vehicle, drove down the street, turned around, and drove back to run Robinson over.

(R.pp.36-38).

Discussion:

Hearsay is defined as "a statement, other than one made by the declarant while testifying at the trial or hearing, offered in evidence to prove the truth of the matter asserted." Rule 801(c), SCRE. Generally, hearsay is not admissible unless it falls within an exception. Rule 802, SCRE. Hearsay is admissible if it falls within the excited utterance exception, which allows statements "relating to a startling event or condition made while the declarant was under the stress of excitement caused by the event or condition." Rule 803(2), SCRE.

There are three elements that must be met to find a statement qualifies as an excited utterance: (1) the statement must relate to a startling event or condition; (2) the statement must have been made while the declarant was under the stress or excitement; and, (3) the stress or excitement must be caused by the startling event. *State v. Ladner*, 373 S.C. 103, 116, 644 S.E.2d 684, 691 (2007). "[T]he intrinsic reliability of an excited utterance derives from the statement's spontaneity which is determined by the totality of the circumstances surrounding the statement when it was uttered." *Id.* at 119-20, 644 S.E.2d at 693; *see also State v. Sims*, 348 S.C. 16, 20, 558 S.E.2d 518, 521 (2002) (explaining the "rationale behind the excited utterance exception is that the startling event suspends the declarant's process of reflective thought, reducing the likelihood of fabrication").

The examination of the totality of the circumstances and determination of whether a statement falls within the excited utterance exception is left to the sound discretion of the trial court. *Ladner*, 373 S.C. at 116, 644 S.E.2d at 691. While the passage of time between the startling event and the statement is one factor to consider, it is not the dispositive factor. Even statements made after extended periods of time can be considered an excited utterance as long as

they were made under continuing stress. *Sims*, 348 S.C. at 21-22, 558 S.E.2d at 521. Other factors useful in determining whether a statement qualifies as an excited utterance include the declarant's demeanor, the declarant's age, and the severity of the startling event. *Id.* at 22, 558 S.E.2d at 521.

The improper admission of hearsay evidence is not necessarily reversible error, but is subject to a harmless error analysis. *State v. Graham*, 314 S.C. 383, 386, 444 S.E.2d 525, 527 (1994). Appellate courts must determine whether the error was harmless beyond a reasonable doubt. *Id.* Moreover, whether an error is harmless depends on the particular circumstances of the case. *Id.* The circumstances include, but are not limited to, the importance of the witness' testimony in the State's case, whether the testimony was cumulative, the presence or absence of evidence corroborating or contradicting the testimony of the witness on material points, the extent of cross-examination, and the overall strength of the State's case. *Id.* Error is only harmless "when it 'could not have reasonably affected the result at trial.'" *State v. Mitchell*, 286 S.C. 572, 573, 336 S.E.2d 150, 151 (1985) (citation omitted).

Here, Alan Robinson's statement to his nephew satisfies the requirements for admission as an excited utterance. Robinson's statement related to the events leading up to a driver stealing his moped, turning around, and running him over. *See Ladner*, 373 S.C. at 116, 644 S.E.2d at 691 (discussing the three elements necessary to admit a statement as an excited utterance, including that the statement must relate to a startling event). Furthermore, the totality of the circumstances supports respondent's contention that Robinson was under the stress of the startling event of being run over. The State elicited testimony from William Pate to establish Robinson's stressed or agitated state. *See Ladner*, 373 S.C. at 116, 644 S.E.2d at 691 (noting the declarant must make the statement while under stress caused by the startling event). Pate

testified his uncle was upset and agitated, he was alone on the side of the road, and his moped was gone. (R.pp.34-35). Additionally, Pate's testimony about Robinson's inability to move, alternate moans and cries, screams of pain, and saying, "God help me," show Robinson was under the stress of excitement when he made his statements. (R.pp.36-37). Testimony from the first paramedic to treat Robinson further demonstrated his state of mind because he was showing significant signs of shock, including "very, very low" blood pressure, a cold, clammy sweat, and a panicked state. (R.pp.83-84). Evidence and testimony presented at trial supported the conclusion that the combination of the theft of his moped and being run over by a vehicle caused Robinson's stress. *See Sims*, 348 S.C. at 22, 558 S.E.2d at 521 (noting the declarant's demeanor and the severity of the startling event are factors a trial court should consider in determining whether a statement qualifies as an excited utterance). Accordingly, the record demonstrates the trial court carefully considered the totality of the circumstances and acted within its discretion to admit the victim's statement under the excited utterance exception.

Regardless, even if the Court were to find the trial court abused its broad scope of discretion, any alleged error is harmless beyond a reasonable doubt. *See Graham*, 314 S.C. at 386, 444 S.E.2d at 527 (holding admission of hearsay evidence is subject to harmless error analysis). William Pate's testimony was corroborated by and cumulative to that of multiple other witnesses and evidence. *See id.* (stating appellate courts will examine a host of factors to determine if the error was harmless, including the importance of the witness' testimony, whether the testimony was cumulative, and the presence of evidence corroborating the witness' testimony). Respondent submits it is unlikely admitting Robinson's statement to Pate unduly affected the jury's guilty verdict when an examination of the record shows the State also admitted and the jury considered: (1) multiple inculpatory statements from appellant in which he admitted

to participating in the deadly incident and gave details of the crime; (2) testimony from investigators who examined the scene, and interviewed appellant and family members; (3) testimony from appellant's wife who stated, without objection, that appellant told her he hit someone on a moped; (4) information about Robinson's severe and extensive injuries, which were consistent with being run over by a vehicle; (5) testimony from the men who talked to appellant about buying the victim's moped, who stated they thought it was stolen, in part, because appellant wanted to get rid of it fast and acted nervous; (6) testimony from a man who shared a cell with appellant who stated appellant told him what happened on the night Robinson died; and, (7) photographs of the damage to the Tahoe and the moped, as well as analysis of paint found on the Tahoe which was consistent with that on the moped. Accordingly, because admitting the victim's statement did not affect the verdict, any alleged error in admitting it was harmless beyond a reasonable doubt. *See Mitchell*, 286 S.C. at 573, 336 S.E.2d at 151 (holding an error admitting hearsay evidence is harmless when it could not have reasonably affected the result at trial).

II.

The trial court did not abuse its discretion in admitting statements made by the victim to Martha Pate pursuant to both the excited utterance and dying declaration exceptions to the hearsay rule where the statements were made while the victim was under the stress of being run over by a vehicle, and where the victim's belief in the imminence of death could be inferred from the facts and circumstances surrounding the declaration; regardless, any alleged error is harmless beyond a reasonable doubt as the record demonstrates the admission could not have affected the jury's guilty verdict.

Relevant Facts:

In his brief, appellant focuses the majority of this issue on the argument that the trial court erred in admitting Alan Robinson's statements to Martha Pate (Martha) as a dying declaration. As noted in appellant's brief, the court admitted the statements under both the excited utterance and dying declaration exceptions to the hearsay rule. Accordingly, respondent addresses both exceptions in turn, beginning with excited utterance.

Prior to trial, the State proffered the testimony of Martha, the wife of Robinson's nephew, in response to a pre-trial objection to her testimony as hearsay by defense counsel. (R.p.7, line 19-p.8, lines 2). The State wished to admit the statements as a dying declaration or excited utterance exception to the hearsay rule. (R.p.7, lines 21-25). Martha testified, after she and her husband stopped, she asked Robinson about his moped and he told her, "They took it." (R.p.9, line 11-p.10, line 4). Robinson could not get up off the ground, and he was screaming in pain, "Help me!" and "Oh, God, help me!" (R.p.10, lines 7-14). Robinson was holding his stomach and alternately grabbing both hips, stating they hurt. (R.p.10, lines 17-24). Martha testified she knew Robinson was in pain by the way he was yelling, because he was normally a quiet person. (R.p.11, lines 4-7). Robinson further told Martha someone stole his moped, drove down the road, turned around, and came back toward him. (R.p.11, lines 18-20). Robinson stated, as the driver got close to him, he sped up and ran him over. (R.p.11, lines 20-21; p.12, lines 4-6).

Martha confirmed Robinson was in great pain, could not get up, and was crying out for help. (R.p.12, lines 7-13). Martha testified she called 911, and while they waited for paramedics to arrive, Robinson continued to yell, "Help me!" and they told him the ambulance was on the way and that he could not get up. (R.p.13, lines 2-12).

At that time, the State indicated the circumstances surrounding the statements made by Robinson were such that it could be inferred he believed his death was imminent and fell within the dying declaration exception to the hearsay rule. (R.p.16, lines 13-23). Relying on case law, the State argued Robinson did not have to express in direct terms his awareness of his condition, and the nature of his injury and his critical condition supported the inference that Robinson was aware he was dying. (R.p.16, line 24-p.17, line 6). The State asserted it was common sense to think that someone who said he was run over by a vehicle and was lying on the ground crying out in "excruciating pain" would believe that death was or could be imminent. (R.p.17, lines 7-13). Moreover, the State emphasized the focus should be on Robinson's state of mind at the time he made the statements, as the declarant, and not that of the person who heard it. (R.p.17, lines 14-21). The State also argued the statements could be admitted under the excited utterance exception to the hearsay rule because the totality of the circumstances, including Robinson's demeanor, the severity of the startling event, and his injuries, indicated the statements were made while Robinson was in an excited and agitated state. (R.p.18, line 20-p.22, line 9).

Defense counsel argued the State failed its burden of proving the statements were "in any way" a dying declaration. (R.p.23, lines 15-17). Counsel asserted Martha Pate (Martha) had no idea what Robinson's thoughts were regarding his condition, she only knew that he was in pain and did not know details about his medical condition. (R.p.23, lines 18-25). Counsel maintained the State failed to show Robinson believed he was dying and his statements were, therefore,

unreliable. (R.p.24, lines 6-17). Defense counsel also argued the statements should not be admitted under the excited utterance exception because the timeline had not been established to determine how long Robinson had been lying in the road before he made his statements. (R.p.25, lines 20-24). Counsel maintained the statements were inadmissible hearsay, the State should not be allowed to use the information from Martha in its opening, and the State was required to build a better foundation at trial before using Martha's testimony about Robinson's statements. (R.p.26, lines 5-11).

The trial court found, after reviewing case law and the rules of evidence, that the statements could be admitted under both the dying declaration and excited utterance exceptions to the hearsay rule. (R.p.26, line 14-p.28, line 21).

At trial, the State laid the proper foundation to admit the statements during its direct examination of Martha Pate (Martha):

MARTHA: [We questioned Robinson when w]e didn't see the moped. And we asked him, Where is your moped, Al? All this stuff is on the ground.

And he said, They took it.

THE STATE: Let's don't say what he told you just yet.

MARTHA: Okay.

THE STATE: I'm trying to sort of lay the groundwork for that. But at some point did he tell you about what had him so excited and upset and in pain?

MARTHA: Yes, sir.

THE STATE: He wasn't able to get up and walk around?

MARTHA: No, sir.

THE STATE: Ultimately did EMS come and transport him?

MARTHA: Yes, sir.

THE STATE: And ultimately did you find that Al had in fact died?

MARTHA: Yes, sir.

THE STATE: And during the time that you were there with him until EMS came to get him, did he remain in sort of an excited sort of agitated state during that time?

MARTHA: Yes, sir.

THE STATE: Your Honor, I'd offer the statements he made to them or to her under both the excited utterance and the dying declaration.

(R.p.60, line 1-p.61, line 4). The trial court admitted the statements. (R.p.61, lines 5-6).

Defense counsel subsequently renewed his objection to the testimony as inadmissible hearsay, which the court overruled under both the dying declaration and excited utterance exceptions.

(R.p.61, lines 8-12).

Martha continued to testify to substantially the same information she gave during the pre-trial proffer. Martha stated Robinson was holding his stomach and yelling, "Help me!" and "I'm in pain!" when she and her husband found him on the side of the road. (R.pp.58-59). Martha testified Robinson's demeanor was normally calm and he was usually a quiet man, so she knew he was in a lot of pain by the way he was yelling and holding himself. (R.p.59). Martha stated Robinson told them someone took his moped and then ran him over. (R.p.60; p.62). Specifically, Robinson believed two people took the moped and put it in the back of a vehicle the same dark color as a neighbor's. (R.pp.61-62).

Discussion:

Hearsay is defined as "a statement, other than one made by the declarant while testifying at the trial or hearing, offered in evidence to prove the truth of the matter asserted." Rule 801(c),

SCRE. Hearsay is not admissible unless it falls within an exception. Rule 802, SCRE. In addition to the excited utterance exception where the availability of a witness is immaterial, exceptions exist when a declarant is unavailable, such as when a person cannot testify because of death. Rule 803, SCRE; Rule 804(a)(4), SCRE. An exception to the hearsay rule exists in a prosecution for homicide, where "a statement made by a declarant while believing that the declarant's death was imminent, concerning the cause or circumstances of what the declarant believed to be impending death," commonly known as a dying declaration. Rule 804(b)(2), SCRE.

A declarant is not required to express, in direct terms, his awareness of his condition for his statement to be admissible as a dying declaration. *State v. McHoney*, 344 S.C. 85, 93, 544 S.E.2d 30, 33 (2001). "The necessary state of mind can be inferred from the facts and circumstances surrounding the declaration." *Id.* The belief in imminent death may be demonstrated by the declarant's own statement or from circumstantial evidence, such as the nature of the wounds, the declarant's critical condition, or statements made in the declarant's presence. *Id.* at 93, 544 S.E.2d at 33-34 (citations omitted). Moreover, the length of time the declarant lives after making the dying declaration is immaterial. The focus is on the person's state of mind when the statement is made, not on the outcome of the injuries. *State v. Hall*, 134 S.C. 361, 361, 133 S.E. 24, 26 (1926). In *Hall*, the Supreme Court held it was up to the jury to pass on the credibility of the dying declaration, and the length of time between the declaration and death is only one factor to be considered. *Id.*

Here, Alan Robinson's statements to Martha Pate (Martha) satisfy the requirements for admission both as an excited utterance and a dying declaration. As argued by the State at trial and allowed by the trial court, Robinson's statements to Martha were admissible under the

excited utterance exception. As noted in Argument I, the statement related to the startling event of a driver stealing Robinson's moped and running him over. *See Ladner*, 373 S.C. at 116, 644 S.E.2d at 691 (discussing the elements necessary to admit a statement as an excited utterance, including that the statement must relate to a startling event). The totality of the circumstances demonstrates Robinson was under the stress of the startling event when Martha repeatedly testified Robinson was in an upset and agitated state, he was yelling in pain and asking for help, and kept holding his hips and stomach stating they hurt. (R.p.10, pp.12-13; pp.58-61); *see also Ladner*, 373 S.C. at 116, 644 S.E.2d at 691 (noting the declarant must make the statement while under stress caused by the startling event). Additionally, to establish Robinson's stressed and agitated state, Martha testified his usual demeanor had changed—he was normally calm and a quiet man, so Martha knew he was in a lot of pain by the way he was yelling—and a paramedic testified that Robinson's body was no longer compensating as it used to, as evidenced by signs of shock such as very low blood pressure and a cold, clammy sweat. (R.p.11; p.59; pp.83-84); *see also Sims*, 348 S.C. at 22, 558 S.E.2d at 521 (noting the declarant's demeanor and the severity of the startling event are factors a trial court should consider in determining whether a statement qualifies as an excited utterance). Accordingly, the record demonstrates the trial court carefully considered the totality of the circumstances and acted within its discretion to admit the victim's statement under the excited utterance exception.

While respondent submits Robinson's statements also satisfy the requirements for admission as a dying declaration, respondent also acknowledges it is a closer question. The statement concerned the cause of his impending death, as Robinson told Martha someone ran over him with a vehicle. (R.pp.11-12; p.60; p.62); *see also* Rule 804(b)(2), SCRE (an exception to the hearsay rule exists where a declarant makes a statement while believing death is imminent,

concerning the cause of the impending death). Robinson never directly stated he thought he would die; however, a declarant is not required to expressly state, "I'm dying," for a statement to be admissible as a dying declaration. *See McHoney*, 344 S.C. at 93, 544 S.E.2d at 33 (holding a declarant is not required to express, in direct terms, his awareness of his condition for his statement to be admissible, but it can be inferred from the surrounding circumstances and facts). It could be inferred from the surrounding circumstances that Robinson believed death was imminent because he: (1) was screaming in pain; (2) could not get up from the ground; (3) continually yelled for help; (4) was holding his hips and stomach; and, (5) his family members told him not to move and to wait for the ambulance to arrive. (R.p.10; pp.12-13; pp.58-59); *see also McHoney*, 344 S.C. at 93, 544 S.E.2d at 33-34 (addressing the factors to be considered when establishing a declarant's necessary state of mind, which include the nature of the wounds and statements made in the declarant's presence). Moreover, Robinson was undoubtedly in critical condition. *See McHoney*, 344 S.C. at 93, 544 S.E.2d at 33-34 (noting the declarant's critical condition is also a factor to be considered when establishing the declarant's state of mind). A paramedic testified Robinson was showing signs of shock, his condition deteriorated in the ambulance to the point that the decision was made to fly him to a major trauma center, and the paramedic suspected a possible pelvic fracture. (R.pp.83-84; pp.86-87). Additionally, once Robinson arrived at the hospital it was determined his severe injuries included a shattered pelvis, additional broken bones, multiple injuries to major organs, and internal bleeding. (R.p.155; p.161; pp.166-168; pp.171-172). Accordingly, the facts and circumstances surrounding Robinson's statements supported the inference he was aware death was or could be imminent, and the trial court acted within its discretion to admit his statement under the dying declaration exception.

Regardless, even if the Court were to find the trial court abused its broad scope of discretion, any alleged error is harmless beyond a reasonable doubt. *See Graham*, 314 S.C. at 386, 444 S.E.2d at 527 (holding admission of hearsay evidence is subject to harmless error analysis). Similar to her husband's testimony, Martha Pate's (Martha) testimony was corroborated by and cumulative to that of multiple other witnesses and evidence. *See id.* (stating appellate courts will examine a host of factors to determine if the error was harmless, including the importance of the witness' testimony, whether the testimony was cumulative, and the presence of evidence corroborating the witness' testimony). As noted in Argument I, respondent submits it is unlikely admitting Robinson's statement to Martha unduly affected the jury's guilty verdict when an examination of the record shows the State also admitted and the jury considered: (1) multiple inculpatory statements from appellant in which he admitted to participating in the deadly incident and gave details of the crime; (2) testimony from investigators who examined the scene, and interviewed appellant and family members; (3) testimony from appellant's wife who stated, without objection, that appellant told her he hit someone on a moped; (4) information about Robinson's severe and extensive injuries, which were consistent with being run over by a vehicle; (5) testimony from the men who talked to appellant about buying the victim's moped, who stated they thought it was stolen, in part, because appellant wanted to get rid of it fast and acted nervous; (6) testimony from a man who shared a cell with appellant who stated appellant told him what happened on the night Robinson died; and, (7) photographs of the damage to the Tahoe and the moped, as well as analysis of paint found on the Tahoe which was consistent with that on the moped. Accordingly, because admitting the victim's statement did not affect the verdict, any alleged error in admitting it was harmless beyond a reasonable doubt. *See Mitchell*, 286 S.C. at 573, 336 S.E.2d at 151 (holding an error admitting hearsay evidence is harmless

when it could not have reasonably affected the result at trial).

CONCLUSION

For all of the foregoing reasons, it is respectfully submitted that the judgments, convictions, and sentences of the trial court should be affirmed.